

Minutes of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 23 January 2024.

PRESENT

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (in the Chair)

Mr. M. Frisby CC	Mrs. S. Jordan CC
Mr. K. Ghattoraya CC	Mrs. C. Lewis
Mr. R. Hills CC	Mr. R. Martin
Mr. M. Hunt CC	Mrs B. Seaton CC

In Attendance

Mrs. D. Taylor CC - Cabinet Lead Member for Children and Families

45. Minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2023.

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2023 were taken as read, confirmed and signed.

46. Question Time.

The Chief Executive reported that two questions had been received under Standing Order 35.

Question asked by Mrs Sue Whiting:

"Could the Chair please state:

- a) How many children, currently in Year 6, with an EHCP, working below Year 5 expectations, have been allocated a mainstream place for Year 7 in September 2024?
- b) How many children, currently in Year 6, with an EHCP, working below Key Stage 2 expectations, have been allocated a mainstream place for Year 7 in September 2024?
- c) How many children, currently in Year 6, with an EHCP, have not been allocated a placement or provision (Mainstream or Specialist) for Year 7 in September 2024?"

Response by the Chairman:

a) There are 428 Year 6 children with an EHCP. The Service is working to ensure all Year 6 children have a named place by 15 February 2024 transfer deadline. The information about curriculum levels is held within the schools.

- b) There are 428 Year 6 children with an EHCP. The Service is working to ensure all Year 6 children have a named place by 15 February 2024 transfer deadline. The information about curriculum levels is held within the schools.
- c) As of 18 January 2024, there are 224 Year 6 children with an EHCP that do not have a named placement. The review and placement teams are working through the 224 cases to allocate a place by the 15 February 2024 phase transfer deadline.

Mrs Whiting asked the following supplementary question:

"Thank you for the response, especially the numbers in part C. I specifically asked in question A, how many children had been working below Year 5 had not been allocated a mainstream space, and in B, the same question relating to how many children had been working below key stage 2. The answer seems to be the same for both, so I am not sure whether there are 428 Year 6 children with an EHCP with a place by 15 February who are working below Year 5, or whether there are another 428 children who are working at Key Stage 1. If the information for curriculum level is held with the schools, how can the EHCP's provision be accurate and appropriate?"

At the invitation of the Chairman, the Director of Children and Family Services responded that there was a total of 428 children in Year 6 who had an EHCP. The Department were working through all of those children to ensure that they had a named place by the 15 February deadline. In terms of curriculum levels, the EHCP included all information on children, including attainment details. However, the Department would need to look at each of those 428 plans in order to answer the question. Children were allocated with a place by looking at the EHCP to understand what the child's needs were. The Department had the information available when it looked at individual children in order to place them, then the detail of curriculum level was held at a school level.

Question asked by Mr David Warwick:

"Given the TSIL FAQs state that in 2022 'we spent more than the Government (High Needs) grant by £10.8m', and in March 2022 the Department for Education signed a £19.5m contract with consultancy firm Newton Europe to address this. Could you please advise:

- a) Why has Leicestershire County Council spent over £10 million on high-cost dubious value private SEN provision (ISP) in 2023 and why has the Council failed to make any progress to meet its legal obligations to process Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) in the required 20 weeks?
- b) How does the Council expect schools to cope if 68% of children in specialist settings are to have their needs met in mainstream schools or resource, and 34% children with a EHCP in mainstream provision are to have needs met without an EHCP."

Response by the Chairman:

 a) The High Needs Grant allocated to Leicestershire for 2023/24 totals £105,082,000. The cost of placements for children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in 2023/24 is budgeted to be £112,643,000. These costs include places at special schools, additional money to support children with an EHCP in mainstream school, resource bases and independent provision. The cost of independent provision makes up around 27% (£30m) of the overall placement costs. The type of provision that is required to meet a child's needs is set out within their Education Health and Care Plan. Schools across the county are consulted on whether they can meet the needs of children as set out in the plan. Independent provision is used for children where their needs cannot be met elsewhere or where there is no other provision available to meet the needs of children.

Over the last 5 years the County Council has invested over £30m to provide over 500 additional specialist places for children with special education needs and disabilities in state funded provision in Leicestershire.

The average time taken to complete an EHCP assessment in Leicestershire is currently around 35 weeks. It has decreased from an average of 42 weeks earlier in 2023. 35 weeks remains well above the requirement for plans to be completed in 20 weeks. The main reason for the delay in assessments is the availability of Educational Psychologists (EP) to undertake the advice element of the EHCP assessment. EP availability is a national issue; however the local authority has taken a number of steps to recruit additional EPs to undertake the assessments in order to improve timeliness.

b) The deep dive into SEND Services in Leicestershire that took place at the beginning of the programme reviewed the journey of children and young people in non-mainstream settings, and was focused on opportunities for improved outcomes – often earlier in their education journey. The review found that in 32% of the cases a specialist school was needed to meet needs, in 40% of cases, there was an opportunity for the needs of that child to be met in a mainstream school and in 28% of cases, there was an opportunity for the needs of children and young people to have been met in a mainstream SEN unit. It should be emphasised that the deep dive into potential opportunities is not the same as the idea that children "are to have their needs met" with a different level of support, and that the focus is on new starters into the SEND system rather than any inappropriate change of provision.

This analysis has led to the work across the programme to look at how children with special educational needs and disabilities needs can be met in mainstream school, when this is the most appropriate setting for the child. This has included the development of the inclusive practice tool kit, settings specific planning work, as well as improving processes and ways of working across Early Years and SENA.

Mr Warwick asked the following supplementary questions:

- a) "Does the 35-week period quoted include those applications which are refused or rejected but then taken to tribunal successfully by parents and guardians. If not, what is the average time including this, and how many tribunal applications are successful in Leicestershire?
- b) A Cabinet report dated 23 June 2023 included information on a diagnostic review by Newton Europe Consultancy, engaged through a competitive tendering

process. In that, it was stated that there were opportunities for 34% of children and young people with an EHCP in a mainstream provision to have their needs met without an EHCP. My members, who work in schools, such as teaching assistants, business managers, etc., wish to know how, with rising numbers of children presenting with high needs and challenging behaviours, support staff or school budgets can cope if 34% of children on an EHCPs have to have their needs met without one."

At the invitation of the Chairman, the Director of Children and Family Services responded that:

- a) The average time taken to complete an EHCP included all of the EHCP assessments undertaken so it did include those plans which were instructed under tribunal. The time taken, 35 weeks, was the time taken from the point when the EHCP assessment was agreed to its completion. In respect of the second part of the question, around how many tribunal applications in Leicestershire were successful, almost 95% of all tribunals ruled against the Local Authority, in favour of the parent. The Director did not have the breakdown of how many of those were on assessments, to report to the meeting. However, the Department would continue to monitor this.
- b) The deep dive into SEN services outlined in the paper on the agenda relating to the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire, took place at the beginning of the programme and reviewed the journey of the children and young people who were in non-mainstream settings. It was focussed on opportunities for improved outcomes for those children and looked at what could have been done earlier on in the education journey. Across mainstream schools, there was a range of support available to support children with special educational needs and disabilities, without the need for an EHCP. The deep dive which took place looked at the journey of those children who had an EHCP in mainstream schools, which did on some occasions identify that those needs could have been met either earlier, or without an EHCP. There was a wealth of resource within schools, and expertise within mainstream provision, which did, and could, support those children with SEND, outside of an EHCP. The data did not state that the Department would remove an EHCP from children who had them. However, it would look at the journey of children and assess whether or not there were things which could have been done differently for them in order to meet their needs earlier, or without an EHCP, through things such as SEN support and other things available through schools.
- 47. <u>Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).</u>

The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).

48. <u>To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent</u> elsewhere on the agenda.

There were no urgent items for consideration.

49. Declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.

The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of items on the agenda for the meeting.

Mr. R. Martin declared a registerable interest, in respect of agenda item 9, as the Chair of the Leicestershire Parent Carer Forum. He undertook to not participate in the discussion of that item.

50. <u>Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule</u> <u>16.</u>

There were no declarations of the party whip.

51. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.

The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 36.

52. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 - 2027/28.

The Committee considered a joint report of the Director of Children and Family Services and the Director of Corporate Resources which provided information on the proposed 2024/25 to 2027/28 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it related to the Children and Family Services department. A copy of the report marked 'Agenda Item 8' is filed with these minutes.

The Chairman welcomed Mrs. D. Taylor CC, Lead Member for Children and Family Services, to the meeting for this item.

Service Transformation and Revenue Budget

i. The Director emphasised that increased financial controls, which the Council had introduced around recruitment, procurement and non-essential spend in order to address the Council's funding gap, were in addition to the financial controls the Department had in place for a number of years. Members noted that all financial controls would be reviewed on an ongoing basis.

<u>Growth</u>

ii. Members noted that 135 individuals over the age of 18 were being cared for by the Council and that this was funded through the Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) budget. The Council supported these individuals as they were classed as care leavers. Some of these young people had not yet had their asylum claim processed by the Government, and therefore could not work, claim benefits, or live independently. The Cabinet Lead Member for Children and Families had written to the Secretary of State to seek a resolution as the situation would continue to negatively impact lives and contribute to the financial growth pressure in relation to the UASC budget.

<u>Savings</u>

iii. The Director confirmed that 23 in-house placements would be created over the next five years through the Children's Innovation Partnership (CIP) with Barnardo's which it was anticipated would reduce reliance on the private sector The aim was to

build homes in Leicestershire so that children and young people in care could continue to live within their communities.

- iv. In response to a question relating to whether CIP would be expanded to further reduce reliance on the private sector, if the expected savings were made, the Director explained that CIP would continually review the roll-out of homes in order to reduce costs and support children with complex needs through in-house placement provision.
- v. In response to concern relating to the demand for tribunals within the SEND Service, the Director explained that a saving of £0.1m in 2025/26, rising to £0.4m by 2027/28, had been identified as part of the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) programme, which was likely to result in longer term reduction in demand. The TSIL programme would aim for children and young people to be placed within the correct provision at the correct time, and for a greater level of engagement with parents, carers and schools, which was anticipated to reduce the number of tribunals and as a result would have a reduced cost to the Service.
- vi. The Director assured members that the Department had undertaken analysis on tribunals and that in the majority of cases a tribunal had been requested due to parents or carers having not agreed with a decision the Council had made relating to specialist provision or an EHCP (Education, Health and Care Plan). Members noted that the Council was responsible for its own costs associated with the tribunal process and that parents would be responsible for the cost of seeking independent advice. The Director acknowledged that the Department needed to find ways to work with parents differently to avoid tribunals, including earlier engagement, improved mediation and conflict resolution. Members noted that delays experienced within the system would result in complaints received by the Service, rather than leading to tribunal.
- vii. A member suggested that despite resource challenges and the national shortage in the availability of Educational Psychologists, that there would still be a requirement for supporting parents and carers, as well as schools, with thorough and accurate assessments for EHCPs. The Director acknowledged this point, and assured members that the Department would continue to work with parents, carers and schools and focus on allocating the most appropriate level of support to children and young people at the correct time.

High Needs

- viii. Members noted that there was an error in the table on page 30 of the report. The Savings Achieved at Annual Reviews in 2027/28 should have read -380 (£,000).
- ix. A concern was raised regarding the impact that anticipated savings from a reduction in the number of early years specialist starts would have on children. In response, the Director assured members that, where an assessment had identified that a child required specialist provision, they would be placed within a specialist setting to meet their need. The savings identified related to children where an assessment had identified that they could have their needs best met elsewhere within the system, for example in a mainstream setting. Members noted that diagnostic work conducted as part of the TSIL programme had identified a number of cases where children could have been placed in a different setting or remained in mainstream if earlier support had been provided. The Director assured members that children currently

placed within provision would not be moved out of provision that was currently meeting their needs, and that the changes would apply to newly assessed children to ensure they were placed in settings that could meet their needs.

- x. Concern was raised that a reduction in the number of non-early years specialist starts may not deliver the anticipated savings and could place pressure on mainstream settings. The Director assured members that the Department would ensure children were placed in the right setting to meet their needs and costs would be avoided by not placing children in provision that was not necessary to meet their identified needs. Diagnostic work conducted by the Department, in partnership with Newton Europe, had identified that some children within specialist provision could have had their needs met within a mainstream setting. The Director emphasised that the work taking place was about getting it right for children at the earliest possible time and ensuring children were placed in settings that met the needs identified in the EHCP. Members were assured that the placement budget would continue to be utilised to support children according to their needs. It was anticipated that savings would be made through ensuring each child was receiving the right provision to meet their needs.
- xi. Members noted that following the expected end to the Statutory Accounts override, in March 2026, the budget deficit would no longer be ringfenced from the Council's core budget.

Capital Programme

xii. Members noted the information provided at paragraphs 103 to 111 in the report.

RESOLVED:

- a) That the report regarding the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 2027/28 and information now provided be noted;
- b) That the comments now made be forwarded to the Scrutiny Commission for consideration at its meeting on 29 January 2024.

53. <u>Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) Programme Update.</u>

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which provided an update of the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) programme. It set out progress and achievements to date, next steps, as well as an overview of the High Needs Block financial position. A copy of the report marked 'Agenda Item 9' is filed with these minutes.

The Chairman welcomed Stephen Knight and Ashley Page from Newton Europe to the meeting for this item.

Arising from discussion, the following points were raised:

i. Concern was raised relating to a 54% increase in the number of children and young people requiring an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) in Leicestershire. This was larger than that in England (38%), and in the East Midlands (32%). The Director advised that there were many reasons for this, including legacy decision making, which had led to issues with sufficiency within the system. There was also a position whereby some schools were focussing on EHCP's in order to bring in funding. Moving forward, the TSIL programme would aim to put in place EHCP's for the correct reasons which would aim to narrow this gap and subsequently reduce associated costs.

- ii. The TSIL programme would focus on the evidence and data from diagnostic work to improve services for children with special educational needs and disabilities. Whilst it would be difficult to track and monitor intervention, it was clear that early intervention, particularly for early years children, often had the best impact. The Department would also focus on data, and regularly assess decision making and communication methods, throughout the EHCP assessment process. Members noted that the benefits of the programme would aim to benefit children and reduce costs.
- iii. Concern was raised that there had been a lasting impact from Covid in children. There had been reports which had indicated a lack of social interaction amongst children, as well as an increasing number of children and young people struggling with mental health and being involved in crime. The Director assured members that these children would be supported through the Inclusive Practice Toolkit, the Secondary Education and Inclusion Partnership, and through work on Elective Home Education.

RESOLVED:

That the update on the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) programme, including progress and achievements made to date and next steps, as well as an overview of the current High Needs Block financial position, be noted.

54. Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2024-26.

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which present the draft Leicestershire Children and Family Service's Departmental Plan 2024 – 26, attached as an Appendix to the report, for comment and consideration. A copy of the report marked 'Agenda Item 10' is filed with these minutes.

Members noted the information provided within the report and the draft Leicestershire Children and Family Service's Departmental Plan 2024 – 26.

RESOLVED:

- a) That the draft Leicestershire Children and Family Service's Departmental Plan 2024 26 be noted;
- b) That the draft Leicestershire Children and Family Service's Departmental Plan be presented to the Cabinet at its meeting on 9 February 2024.

55. Date of next meeting.

RESOLVED:

It was noted that the next meeting of the Commission would be held on 5 March 2024 at 14:00.

14:00 - 16:01 23 January 2024 CHAIRMAN

This page is intentionally left blank